UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research at Birmingham

Do phenothiazines possess antimicrobial and efflux inhibitory properties?

Grimsey, Elizabeth; Piddock, Laura

DOI:

10.1093/femsre/fuz017

License

Other (please specify with Rights Statement)

Document Version
Peer reviewed version

Citation for published version (Harvard):

Grimsey, E & Piddock, L 2020, 'Do phénothiazines possess antimicrobial and efflux inhibitory properties?', FEMS Microbiology Reviews, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 577-590. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuz017

Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal

Publisher Rights Statement:

This is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in FEMS Microbiology Reviews following peer review. The version of record Elizabeth M Grimsey, Laura J V Piddock, Do phenothiazines possess antimicrobial and efflux inhibitory properties?, FEMS Microbiology Reviews, ,fuz017, https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuz017 is available online at: https://academic.oup.com/femsre/advance-article/doi/10.1093/femsre/fuz017/5520813

General rights

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

- •Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.
- •Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.
- •User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?)
- •Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.

Download date: 09. Apr. 2024

1	Do Phenothiazines Possess Antimicrobial and Efflux Inhibitory Properties?
2	Summary sentence: The use of phenothiazines as antibiotic adjuvants could be invaluable in
3	the fight against antimicrobial resistance.
4	Elizabeth M. Grimsey and Laura J. V. Piddock [#]
5	Institute of Microbiology & Infection, College of Medical & Dental Sciences, University of
6	Birmingham, Edgbaston, United Kingdom.
7	
8	Running Title: Antimicrobial Properties of Phenothiazines
9	Keywords: Antimicrobial Resistance, Phenothiazines, Antibiotics, Efflux Pump, Efflux
10	Inhibitors, Mode of Action.
11	*Corresponding author. Mailing address: Institute of Microbiology & Infection, College of
12	Medical & Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Edgbaston, B15 2TT United
13	Kingdom. Telephone (+44) (0)121-414-6966; Fax (+44) (0)121-414-6819. E-mail
14	l.j.v.piddock@bham.ac.uk.
15	Total Word Count: (From Introduction – Conclusion, including references) 9,662
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

23

47

24		
25	ABSTRACT	3
26	INTRODUCTION	4
27	USE OF COMBINATION THERAPIES	5
28	PHENOTHIAZINES	6
29	History of Phenothiazines	6
30 31	Chemical Structure and use of Phenothiazines in the Treatment of Psychological Disorde	
32	ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF PHENOTHIAZINES	7
33	Ability of Phenothiazines to Affect Bacterial Cellular Replication and Morphology	9
34	Membrane Damaging Effects	.11
35	Effects on Energy Generation	.12
36	EFFLUX INHIBITORY PROPERTIES OF PHENOTHIAZINES	.15
37	Efflux pumps	.15
38	Chlorpromazine as an Efflux Inhibitor	.16
39	Effect of Chlorpromazine on AcrAB-TolC Gene Expression	.19
40	EFFECT OF PHENOTHIAZINES ON BIOFILM FORMATION	.22
41	CAN PHENOTHIAZINES BE USED CLINICALLY AS ANTIBIOTIC ADJUVANTS?	.24
42	CONCLUDING REMARKS	.25
43	FUNDING	.26
44	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	.26
45	REFERENCES	.27
46		

Page **2** of **40**

ABSTRACT

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

Antibiotic resistance is a global health concern; the rise of drug-resistant bacterial infections is compromising the medical advances that resulted from the introduction of antibiotics at the beginning of the 20th century. Considering that the presence of mutations within individuals in a bacterial population may allow a subsection to survive and propagate in response to selective pressure, as long as antibiotics are used in the treatment of bacterial infections, development of resistance is an inevitable evolutionary outcome. This, combined with the lack of novel antibiotics being released to the clinical market, means the need to develop alternative strategies to treat these resistant infections is critical. We discuss how the use of antibiotic adjuvants can minimise the appearance and impact of resistance. To this effect, several phenothiazine-derived drugs have been shown to potentiate the activities of antibiotics used to treat infections caused by Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Outside of their role as anti-psychotic medications, we review the evidence to suggest that phenothiazines possess inherent antibacterial and efflux inhibitory properties enabling them to potentially combat drug resistance. We also discuss that understanding their mode of action is essential to facilitate the design of new phenothiazine derivatives or novel agents for use as antibiotic adjuvants.

65

66

67

68

INTRODUCTION

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

The emergence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is seriously compromising the medical advances made possible by the advent of antibiotics in the late 1920s. A review commissioned by the UK government highlighted the burden that AMR places on public health, in terms of morbidity and mortality and estimated that AMR would cause 10 million annual deaths by 2050 (O' Neil 2016). Whilst there is contention regarding the reliability of this estimate (de Kraker *et al.* 2016, Tillotson 2017), this report allowed many outside of the field of AMR to acknowledge antibiotic resistance as a global public health concern.

Previously, antibiotic discovery, research and development (R&D) efforts were able to contain the threat of drug-resistant infections. As of March 2019, there are 42 drugs in the R&D pipeline; of these, only 16 are active against resistant Gram-negative "ESKAPE" pathogens (Klebsiella pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumanii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and enterobacter species) and only 11 possess a novel chemical structure (Tacconelli et al. 2017, Trusts 2017). Given the low success rate of clinical drug development, it is likely that only two to three of these agents will be approved for clinical use in the next decade (Ardal et al. 2017). Part of the reason behind this reduction in antibiotic R&D is that drug development is extremely time consuming, expensive and the financial rewards for antibiotics are much lower than for drugs that treat chronic illnesses. Therefore, it is important that alternative strategies are developed to prolong the clinical efficacy of currently available antibiotics; one such alternative approach is the use of drug combinations. Combination treatment is invaluable for the treatment of many illnesses including empiric treatment of patients with sepsis (Micek et al. 2010), bloodstream infections (Salzberger and Fatkenheuer 2017) as well as those with human immunodeficiency virus (Maenza and Flexner 1998), cancer (Mokhtari et al. 2017) and bacterial infections such as Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Kerantzas and William R. Jacobs 2017).

USE OF COMBINATION THERAPIES

In terms of multidrug resistance (MDR), both antibiotic-antibiotic or antibiotic-adjuvant combinations are useful for the treatment of drug-resistant infections. An adjuvant is typically a compound that is not antimicrobial when administered alone, but when used in combination potentiates antibiotic activity. Given antibiotic-adjuvant combinations are typically used to target drug-resistance mechanisms (for example, β-lactamase inhibitors), this approach is advantageous as it restores the activity of existing antibiotics. Recently, efforts to produce adjuvants have included synthesising different classes of small molecule inhibitors targeting efflux pumps, β-lactamases or the outer membrane (Lomovskaya *et al.* 2001, Powers *et al.* 2002), or modifying previously known natural chemical products (Choudhury *et al.* 2016). However, drug-drug interactions and the difficulty optimising appropriate dosing regimens accompany the use of drug combinations (Worthington and Melander 2013). An arguably better strategy is to repurpose existing clinically-approved compounds. Considering the pharmacokinetics and toxicology of these compounds are already established, the use of clinically approved drugs would be invaluable in terms of bypassing the costs and time that are associated with drug R&D (Schneider *et al.* 2017).

The utility of this strategy was indicated when systematic screening processes involving previously-approved compounds in combination with clinically used antibiotics revealed that many of these drugs potentiated the activity of a given antibiotic. For example, a study involving the combination of 1,057 FDA approved drugs with the antibiotic minocycline, revealed that 96 compounds including anti-inflammatory, antihistamine, antispasmodic, psychotropic and antihypertensive drugs exhibited synergy with minocycline against *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Ejim et al. 2011). Of these, several phenothiazines were identified to not only synergise with antibiotics, but also possess their own intrinsic antibacterial activity (Melander and Melander 2017).

PHENOTHIAZINES

119

120

121

122

123

124

125

126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

138

139

140

141

142

143

History of Phenothiazines

The history of the phenothiazines began in 1876 upon the synthesis of methylene blue by Henrich Caro (Varga et al. 2017). While methylene blue itself is a therapeutically relevant compound, used as an antimalarial drug, its derivatives have amassed significant therapeutic importance due to their wide functional diversity (Taurand et al. 2012). The first of these derivatives, phenothiazine, was synthesised in 1883 by Heinrich August Berntthsen (Bernthsen and Laboratorium von A. Bernthsen 1883); its insecticidal (Smith 1937), antihelminthic (Swales 1939, Gordon and Sydney 1945) and antibacterial properties (Deeds et al. 1939) were noted in the 1930s and 1940s. However, these were overshadowed when the sedative properties of the phenothiazine derivatives promethazine and chlorpromazine were observed in 1949 by the French army surgeon Henri-Marie Labroit. He noted that previously anxious patients who received a promethazine and chlorpromazine containing 'lytic cocktail' became subdued and indifferent to their surroundings. However, Labroit had difficulty convincing the medical community that phenothiazines would be useful in the field of psychiatry (Ramachandraiah et al. 2009, Kunz 2014). Although various researchers tried to prove the effectiveness of phenothiazines, it was not until Elkes and Elkes undertook a successful, randomised and placebo controlled, clinical trial at The University of Birmingham (UK) in 1954 that phenothiazines were universally accepted as a viable clinical option for the treatment of psychological conditions (Elkes and Elkes 1954).

Chemical Structure and use of Phenothiazines in the Treatment of Psychological

Disorders

Phenothiazines all have the same three-ring structure containing one sulphur and a nitrogen atom at positions C-9 and C-10 of the tricyclic ring, respectively (Figure 1). The length of the linking alkyl connector, the terminal amine, as well as substituents at the C-2

position, determines the activity of the derivative (Jaszczyszyn *et al.* 2012). Phenothiazines are subdivided into three groups (piperazines, piperadines or aliphatic) dependent on the substituent at the nitrogen atom (Figure 2) (Archer and Hicks 1963).

Considered as classical antipsychotics, phenothiazines are dopamine antagonists. Dopamine over-activity is believed to be a causative factor of several psychological conditions, such as schizophrenia and mania (Seeman and Kapur 2000). Dopamine mediates a variety of biochemical processes in the central and peripheral nervous systems via interactions with dopamine receptors. The primary action of phenothiazines relies on their ability to block post-synaptic D2 dopamine receptors, preventing dopamine binding and further signal transduction (Creese *et al.* 1976). In schizophrenic patients, phenothiazine-mediated inhibition of dopamine results in the reduction of symptoms including: psychosis, hallucinations and delusions. However, phenothiazines will act non-specifically on dopamine receptors affecting other cognitive pathways besides the mesolimbic pathway. In addition to their dopaminergic effects, phenothiazines also have antagonistic effects on histamine, serotonin, glutamine, adrenergic and acetylcholine receptors (Varga *et al.* 2017). As a consequence, this causes significant extrapyramidal side effects.

ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY OF PHENOTHIAZINES

Many of the phenothiazines have a broad range of antibacterial activities (both bacteriostatic and bactericidal) against *Mycobacteria*, some Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria (Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1). Both thioridazine and promazine were found to have anti-commensal bacterial activity at 20 µM against 10 of 40 representative species of human gut bacteria (Maier *et al.* 2018).

Table 1: Summary of the antimicrobial activity of chlorpromazine.

Supplementary Table 1: Summary of the phenothiazines that have been shown to possess some antimicrobial activity. The group to which this phenothiazine belongs and its clinical use is described.

167

168

169

170

171

172

173

174

175

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

190

The in vitro activity of phenothiazines was confirmed in an animal model. Of 60 Swiss albino mice challenged with the median lethal dose of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium (S. Typhimurium), an 82% mortality rate was observed for an untreated control group. However, upon treatment with trifluoperazine at 15 and 30 µg/20 g mouse (a sub MIC) this mortality rate was reduced to 16% and 13%, respectively. This reduction was accompanied by a decrease in the bacterial load present in the blood, liver and spleen of treated mice (Mazumder et al. 2001). Fluphenazine and various other phenothiazine derivatives showed similar protective effects in S. Typhimurium and E. coli infection (Dastidar et al. 1995, Komatsu et al. 1997). Considering their large number of mammalian targets, it is unsurprising that the clinical use of phenothiazines as antibiotic adjuvants is limited by their cytotoxicity; chlorpromazine, fluphenazine, thioridazine, trifluoperazine and triflupromazine are toxic to hepatoma tissue culture cells, with EC50 values of 45 to 125 μM (de Faria et al. 2015). Of the phenothiazines those of the piperidinic class appear to be the most toxic. This cytotoxicity means the average achievable human serum levels (30-100 ng/ml, 0.15-2.5 ng/ml and 0.5-3.0 ng/ml for chlorpromazine, thioridazine and trifluoperazine, respectively) are ~1,000 fold lower than the concentration at which anti-bacterial activity occurs. However, there is a large inter-individual variation in the pharmacokinetics. An issue with the pharmacological data for phenothiazines is that most is derived from steady state dosing as opposed to a C_{max} for a single dose; which may be more appropriate for the use of these drugs as an antibiotic adjuvant. In all cases, the metabolites are often more psychoactive and persistent but little is known about their antibacterial effects.

Interestingly, thioridazine and chlorpromazine are concentrated upon ingestion by macrophages. The MIC of chlorpromazine (>30 mg/l) and thioridazine (18 mg/l) against *S. aureus* occurs at clinically unachievable concentrations. However, when monolayer cultures of human peripheral blood monocyte derived macrophages were pre-treated with chlorpromazine or thioridazine, prior to infection with *S. aureus*, a concentration of 0.1 mg/l of compound completely inhibited the growth of the phagocytosed bacteria. This reduced the MIC of both compounds in this environment to concentrations achievable after routine dosing for the treatment of psychotic disorders (Ordway *et al.* 2002, Ordway *et al.* 2002).

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208

209

210

211

212

213

214

215

Ability of Phenothiazines to Affect Bacterial Cellular Replication and Morphology

The phenothiazines fluphenazine, thioridazine, perphenazine and chlorpromazine have been shown to bind to DNA either by intercalation with, or stacking on, the DNA helix (Ben-Hur et al. 1980, de Mol et al. 1983, de Mol and Busker 1984, Viola et al. 2003). Upon photo-ionisation there is a transfer of electrons between the DNA and the phenothiazine cations; this process is linked to single stranded DNA breaks (Viola et al. 2003). Upon intercalation with the DNA helix, the phenothiazine inhibits coiling and uncoiling of the helix as well as all DNA based processes (de Mol et al. 1983), most notably cellular replication (Sharma et al. 2001, Eisenberg et al. 2008). The degree to which phenothiazines can intercalate with DNA is dependent on the guanosine-cytosine content of the DNA helix (de Mol et al. 1983). Phenothiazines have also been shown to bind to RNA structural elements with varying binding affinities (Mayer and James 2004). The ability of phentohiazines to act as plasmid curing agents, at sub-inhibitory concentration, (reviewed by Buckner et al. 2018) has been speculated to result from the ability of these drugs to intercalate DNA and inhibit plasmid replication and supercoiling (Mandi et al. 1975, Molnar and Schneider 1978, Barabas and Molnar 1980, Molnar et al. 1980, Molnar et al. 1984, Molnar and Nakamura 1988, Molnar et al. 1992, Wolfart et al. 2006).

In both prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells, phenothiazines have been widely reported as calmodulin antagonists. This ability of phenothiazines to prevent the binding of calcium, to calcium-binding proteins, has been suggested to form the basis of phenothiazine activity against microbial cells (Doroshenko et al. 1988, Marshak et al. 2002, Martins et al. 2011). This hypothesis is based upon data from native PAGE assays that show the phenothiazines chlorpromazine and trifluoperazine prevent the SmCaM1 and SmCaM2 calmodulins from Schistosoma mansoni shifting from a compact to an open structure, an essential conformational change to allow interactions with target molecules (Vandonselaar et al. 1994, Thomas and Timson 2018). In addition, Candida albicans cells grown in the presence of chlorpromazine and trifluoperazine show a reduction in the activity of nuclear calmodulin. This, in addition to phenothiazine-induced DNA damage, is proposed to cause a decrease in cellular replication of Candida albicans via delayed entry into, and progression through, the S and G1 phases of the cell cycle (Sharma et al. 2001). Thus, it has been suggested that the phenothiazines initiate their pharmacological properties via interactions with the calcium messenger system, inhibiting calcium binding to calmodulin, voltage-gated calcium channels and protein kinase C (Ford et al. 1989).

216

217

218

219

220

221

222

223

224

225

226

227

228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

238

239

240

Phenothiazines have been shown, in a species-dependent manner, to directly affect the morphology of bacterial cells at sub-MIC concentrations. For example, at concentrations lower than those which inhibit replication, chlorpromazine causes transient filamentation of *E. coli* (Amaral and Lorian 1991) and an inability of *S. aureus* cells to divide, resulting in large mesosomal-like structures (Kristiansen and Blom 1981). In addition, Amaral *et al.* (2000) noted that exposure of *S.* Typhimurium to sub-MIC concentrations of chlorpromazine resulted in changes in the appearance of the cell wall of a chlorpromazine-resistant mutant. These changes included the loss of an unspecified 55 kDa protein. In the absence of this protein, anti-O antibody was able to bind O-antigen in the presence of chlorpromazine, an

interaction that was initially blocked. The authors suggested that chlorpromazine binds to this absent protein where it can elicit its antimicrobial effects (Amaral *et al.* 2000).

Membrane Damaging Effects

241

242

243

244

245

246

247

248

249

250

251

252

253

254

255

256

257

258

259

260

261

262

263

The change in cellular morphology has been suggested to result from the ability of phenothiazines to damage the bacterial membrane of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (Galeazzi et al. 1986). At sub-MIC concentrations, phenothiazines increase outer membrane permeability and fluidity, and depolarise the plasma membrane (Kristiansen 1979, Zilberstein et al. 1990, Kaatz et al. 2003). At low concentrations this membrane damage causes changes in cell structure and affects the functionality of many inner and outer membrane-bound proteins (Labedan 1988, Rajyaguru and Muszynski 1997, Plenge-Tellechea et al. 2018, Wassmann et al. 2018). This effect of phenothiazines on the outer and inner membrane may be due to the cationic charge and amphiphilic nature of the compounds. In human erythrocytes and model cell membranes the amphiphilic properties of the phenothiazine, chlorpromazine, has been shown to allow the hydrophobic tricyclic structure to partition into the inner portion of the lipid bilayer and interact with the lipid tails, while the hydrophilic propylamine tail of chlorpromazine is able to interact with the polar headgroups (Jiang et al. 2017, Plenge-Tellechea et al. 2018). When present in the lipid bilayer, chlorpromazine can assist in lipid translocation and has been shown to cause dissolution of the lipid bilayer at high concentrations (>5 mM) (Jiang et al. 2017). Although limited indepth studies have been performed in bacterial cells, and despite differences in the bacterial cell membrane of eukaryotes and prokaryotes, it has been hypothesised that phenothiazines may affect the bacterial membrane in a similar manner described for mammalian cells (Kristiansen 1979).

Effects on Energy Generation

264

265

266

267

268

269

270

271

272

273

274

275

276

277

278

279

280

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

288

Phenothiazines have been widely reported to affect the flux of ions across the bacterial membrane. An increase in calcium influx and potassium efflux has been noted at sub-MIC concentrations of chlorpromazine and thioridazine in a variety of bacterial and fungal species including S. aureus and Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Kristiansen 1979, Kristiansen et al. 1982, Eilam 1983, Eilam 1984, Zilberstein et al. 1990). The addition of high concentrations of each cation partially reverses this effect, with higher concentrations of phenothiazine being required to elicit the same response. The effect of phenothiazines on ion flux has been shown to be dependent on the presence of metabolic energy with the removal of glucose causing reversion of the cell to a pre-exposure phenotype (Eilam 1983). This suggests that the phenothiazine does not affect ion flux simply through increased membrane permeability. The hypothesis that phenothiazines require energy for uptake into the cell was not supported as chlorpromazine was able to cross the bacterial membrane in the absence of glucose (Eilam 1984). This effect of phenothiazines on ion flux has been suggested to occur by one, or both, of two mechanisms. The first is a result of inhibition of calcium-dependent processes, and the second is a result of disruption of cation-dependent ATPases (Eilam 1983, Zilberstein et al. 1990).

The changes in ion flux induced by phenothiazines results in disruption of the bacterial membrane potential and proton motive force (PMF) (Zilberstein *et al.* 1990, Kaatz *et al.* 2003). Membrane potential is a difference in the electrical charge between the inside and outside of the cell, with most bacterial cells having a resting membrane potential of -40 mV to -70 mV with respect to the outside of the cell. Any change in the flux of ions across the membrane can alter the electrical potential and result in hyperpolarisation or depolarisation of the membrane. The PMF is one of the ways by which cellular energy is created and is dependent on both the electrical potential and pH gradients. In short, redox

reactions occurring as a result of electron transfer between electron carriers in the cell membrane cause protons to be transported across the inner membrane, forming a concentration gradient. The PMF drives protons to flow back across the inner membrane along their concentration gradient. The F_0F_1 ATP synthase complex couples the energy released by the PMF-driven flux of protons with the synthesis of ATP (Lodish *et al.* 2000, Krulwich *et al.* 2011). Though a change in a single component of the PMF is usually buffered by a counteracting increase in the other, a change in either the membrane potential or pH gradient can cause a disturbance in the maintenance of the PMF, which can have detrimental impacts in terms of metabolism and energy-dependent cellular process (Farha *et al.* 2013). Such processes include ATP synthesis, cell division (Strahl and Hamoen 2010), efflux of toxic substances (Paulsen *et al.* 1996), flagellar motility (Manson *et al.* 1977) and nutrient uptake (Tanaka *et al.* 2018).

Phenothiazines have been shown to inhibit many ATPases found in eukaryotic and microbial cells, including: F₁F₀-ATPase, Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺-ATPase (Bullough *et al.* 1985, Dabbeni-Sala and Palatini 1990, Bhattacharyya and Sen 1999). Inhibition of ATPases is hypothesised to result from the ability of certain phenothiazines to change the conformation of these membrane-associated protein complexes. For example, photoactivated chlorpromazine and trifluoperazine are able to covalently bond with different locations of F₁ and F₀ of F₁F₀-ATPase causing irreversible inhibition (Dabbeni-Sala and Palatini 1990). Plenge-Tellechea *et al.* (2018) revealed that chlorpromazine at 0.1-1 mM inhibits hydrolytic activity of the erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase. This inhibition was suggested to result from the ability of chlorpromazine to disturb the lipid bilayer and thus interfere with the functionality of the membrane-associated proteins (Plenge-Tellechea *et al.* 2018). However, at this concentration chlorpromazine does not irreversibly modify the membrane environment or affect the lipid content. Effects of chlorpromazine on calmodulin

were dismissed upon the observation that increasing concentrations of calcium restores hydrolytic activity of Ca²⁺-ATPase. These results indicate that the drug interacts directly with the enzyme; computational modelling supports this by showing the presence of two potential chlorpromazine binding sites within Ca²⁺-ATPase (Plenge-Tellechea *et al.* 2018). At high concentrations (>100 μM) chlorpromazine is also able to significantly change the conformation of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺-ATPase (Bhattacharyya and Sen 1999). Detailed experiments of the interaction of phenothiazines with ATPases have been primarily conducted using those from mitochondrion or erythrocytes. However, ATPases from bacterial sources possess very similar structural and functional features and may be expected to respond to phenothiazines in a similar manner. Given that ATP synthases play the primary role in energy generation, inhibition of these proteins by phenothiazines may lead to significant detrimental cellular effects.

314

315

316

317

318

319

320

321

322

323

324

325

326

327

328

329

330

331

332

333

334

335

336

337

338

Phenothiazines are able to interfere with the respiratory chain in *M. tuberculosis*. Weinstein et al. (2005) showed that oxygen is rapidly consumed upon the addition of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) to M. tuberculosis membrane particles, a consumption which is inhibited by 1 mM of trifluoperazine (Weinstein et al. 2005). The of by the addition of acid restoration respiration ascorbic and tetramethylphenylenediamine, indicated this inhibition occurred upstream of the cytochrome c complex. Subsequent titration experiments of NADH: quinone 2 oxidoreductase activity revealed that inhibition of oxygen consumption may be related to the inhibition of Type-2 NADH dehydrogenase (NDH-2) homologues by chlorpromazine and thioridazine with IC₅₀ values of ~10 µM (Weinstein et al. 2005). NDH-2 plays an important role in oxidative phosphorylation, which is involved in the generation of respiratory ATP and consists of two processes; chemiosmosis and the electron transport chain. Electrons are able to enter the electron transport chain through NDH-2 and the subsequent redox reactions that occur result

in proton translocation, allowing for the establishment of the PMF, which in turn, activates ATPsynthase to generate cellular ATP. Inhibition of NDH-2 may potentially collapse the PMF and lead to a reduction in the generation of ATP. However, outside of *M. tuberculosis*, in many bacteria NDH-2 is not essential for survival and the production of ATP by oxidative phosphorylation can be compensated for by the utilisation of fermentable carbon sources using substrate level phosphorylation (Hunt *et al.* 2010). While important in the context of aerobic bacteria, the observation that inhibition of NDH-2 by phenothiazines may not be relevant when considering the action of these inhibitors against facultative anaerobic organisms including Staphylococci, *E. coli* and *Salmonella*.

EFFLUX INHIBITORY PROPERTIES OF PHENOTHIAZINES

Efflux pumps

Located in the cell membrane of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, efflux pumps recognise toxic substances that have breached the bacterial cell wall entering the cytoplasm or the periplasm. Once recognised, efflux pumps extrude them to the external environment. Efflux pumps may be specific for a single substrate, or they may export a wide variety of structurally unrelated compounds. Substrates include: antibiotics, dyes, biocides and degradation products from cellular metabolism.

Efflux pumps are classified by their structure, the number of transmembrane domains they contain and their substrates. In prokaryotes there are six major super-families; the major facilitator superfamily (MFS), the resistance nodulation division (RND) family, the small multidrug resistance (SMR) family, the ATP binding cassette superfamily (ABC), the proteobacterial antimicrobial compound efflux (PACE) family and the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family. These six families are grouped into two classes dependent on their energetic requirements; primary transporters that utilise the energy of ATP

hydrolysis (ABC) and secondary transporters (RND, MATE, MFS, PACE and SMR) that rely on the energy produced from transmembrane electrochemical gradients (Li and Nikaido 2009).

Inhibition of efflux may possibly occur via a number of mechanisms: competitive inhibition, non-competitive inhibition, interference with the outer membrane channel, collapse of the mechanism required for the production of the energy, interference with expression of a component of the tripartite pump, disruption of the assembly of the tripartite structure and changes in the structure of pump substrates (Opperman and Nguyen 2015).

Chlorpromazine as an Efflux Inhibitor

While the antimicrobial activities of phenothiazines generally occur at concentrations greater than those clinically achievable, the ability of phenothiazines to prevent selection of antibiotic-resistant bacteria at sub-inhibitory concentrations was noted as early as 1969. Manion *et al.* (1969) observed that isoniazid resistance in *Mycobacterium* can be delayed or prevented when combined with sub-inhibitory concentrations of phenothiazine (Manion *et al.* 1969, Kristiansen *et al.* 2007). The mechanism was not reported.

Chlorpromazine and other phenothiazines display synergy with and potentiate the activity of efflux pump substrates for many bacteria including *S. aureus* (Kaatz *et al.* 2003), *Salmonella* (Bailey *et al.* 2008) and *E. coli* (Amaral *et al.* 2011) (Table 2 and Supplementary Table 2). However, the mode of efflux inhibition is poorly understood. The nature of their interaction with efflux proteins or substrates, or even if such an interaction exists, is currently unknown. In terms of this review, efflux inhibition by phenothiazines is summarised for the RND transporter AcrAB-TolC as most research has been carried out in this context.

Table 2. Summary of the published antibiotic potentiation by chlorpromazine. Where N/D is written no information on fold decrease in MIC is available.

Supplementary Table 2. Summary of the published antibiotic potentiation by phenothiazines. Where N/D is written no information on fold decrease in MIC is available.

AcrAB-TolC is a tripartite system involving an inner membrane transporter (AcrB) complexed with a periplasmic adaptor protein (AcrA) and an outer membrane protein (TolC) (Du et al. 2018). In E. coli, AcrAB-TolC is regulated via global and local transcriptional regulation; locally by AcrR which represses acrAB transcription and globally by the AraC/XylS transcriptional activators MarA, SoxS and Rob (Weston et al. 2017). Although not present in E. coli, in many other Enterobacteriales, such as S. Typhimurium, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Enterobacter cloacae, RamA, a homologue of MarA, is also involved (Schneiders et al. 2003, Bailey et al. 2008, Blair et al. 2015, Raczkowska et al. 2015).

Efflux inhibition may be competitive or non-competitive. Non-competitive in that the compound prevents the protein from functioning (either by preventing the conformational changes that are essential for extrusion, preventing pump assembly or blocking the exit channel), or competitive where the inhibitor is a preferential substrate and is extruded into the extracellular environment instead of, or before, the antibiotic. In both situations, the antibiotic remains within the cell where it can interact with its intracellular target. Bailey *et al.* (2008) revealed that chlorpromazine had a poor antimicrobial effect against wild-type *S*. Typhimurium, with MIC values of 512-1,024 μg/ml (Bailey *et al.* 2008). However, hypersusceptibility to chlorpromazine, and other phenothiazines, was seen in strains with deletions in efflux pump genes (*acrB, acrD, acrF* and, *tolC*) or regulatory genes (*marA* and *ramA*). The greatest extent of hyper-susceptibility occurred in strains with mutations in *acrB* or *tolC*, suggesting that chlorpromazine may be a substrate of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump. This hypersusceptibility to phenothiazines (chlorpromazine and thioridazine) for *S*. Typhimurium strains lacking *acrB* or *tolC* was confirmed by Yamasaki *et al.* (2016) (Yamasaki *et al.* 2016). In addition, overexpression of *acrAB* or *acrEF* conferred resistance

to chlorpromazine and thioridazine for a $\triangle acrB$ S. Typhimurium strain (Yamasaki *et al.* 2016). This, combined with the synergy that occurs when chlorpromazine is combined with a range of antibiotics, provides data to suggest that chlorpromazine may interact with the AcrAB-TolC system and behave as an efflux inhibitor, binding preferentially to antibiotic binding sites giving rise to intracellular accumulation of the substrate.

While changes in the MIC of efflux pump substrates in the presence and absence of efflux inhibitors provides valuable information, this approach has limited sensitivity to detect antibiotic potentiation, largely because subtle differences are often difficult to determine. The degree of efflux inhibition can be determined by measuring efflux directly, or by measuring substrate accumulation in the presence of a putative inhibitor. The most commonly used of these methods rely on measuring the fluorescence of an efflux pump substrate that is able to intercalate DNA; usually either ethidium bromide or Hoescht H33342. The greater the extent of efflux inhibition, the higher the level of substrate fluorescence due to intracellular accumulation (Blair and Piddock 2016).

Phenothiazines, at sub-inhibitory concentrations, give rise to increased accumulation of ethidium bromide and antibiotics such as norfloxacin and ciprofloxacin (Kaatz et al. 2003, Bailey et al. 2008, Amaral et al. 2011). This occurs in wild-type, efflux-deficient (\(\Delta tolC\) S. Typhimurium) and MDR strains (e.g. norA over-expressing S. aureus strains) (Kaatz et al. 2003). Bailey et al. (2008) showed that chlorpromazine exerted no inhibitory effects when used against an acrB-deficient strain; perhaps because chlorpromazine is no longer able to interact with its binding site (Bailey et al. 2008, Yamasaki et al. 2016). This supports the hypothesis that certain phenothiazines (e.g. chlorpromazine) may directly interact with individual components of efflux pumps and behave as competitive inhibitors. Considering AcrB is a major contributor to efflux of many compounds, when it is no longer present, inhibition of (usually) minor efflux systems has a minimal effect. Yamasaki et al. (2016)

confirmed that exposure to chlorpromazine or thioridazine does not increase ethidium bromide accumulation in $\Delta acrB$ S. Typhimurium. However, the authors do not discuss that the data shows both phenothiazines cause a concentration-dependent increase in the initial accumulation of ethidium bromide (Yamasaki et~al.~2016). Given that ethidium bromide accumulation may be affected by factors including changes in cell permeability, the initial increase in ethidium bromide accumulation may be due to the ability of chlorpromazine to permeabilise the membrane allowing a greater initial influx of this compound (Coldham et~al.~2010).

Effect of Chlorpromazine on AcrAB-TolC Gene Expression

437

438

439

440

441

442

443

444

445

446

447

448

449

450

451

452

453

454

455

456

457

458

459

460

461

Bailey et al. (2008) determined the effects of chlorpromazine on expression of the ramA and acrB genes of S. Typhimurium. Chlorpromazine caused an increase in the expression of ramA, whilst simultaneously causing a reduction in the expression of acrB. This reduction in expression correlated with an increase in the susceptibility of S. Typhimurium for a variety of AcrAB-TolC substrates (Lawler et al. 2013). Furthermore, chlorpromazine and other phenothiazines increased the expression of ramA to levels greater than those observed in response to inactivation of acrB. Although inactivation of the transcriptional activator ramA conferred increased susceptibility to chlorpromazine (Bailey et al. 2008), data indicates that chlorpromazine does not directly induce the expression of ramA. It was proposed that the bacterium compensates for lack of AcrB via a positive feedback mechanism on ramA. This may occur from increased intracellular accumulation of metabolites that may bind to the transcriptional repressor RamR, increasing ramA transcription (Lawler et al. 2013). Upon removal of chlorpromazine, the amount of the RamA protein decreases to pre-exposure levels. Salmonella strains with a non-functional Lon protease are unable to degrade RamA and thus the abundance of this protein is not reduced post-chlorpromazine exposure (Ricci et al. 2014). Lon protease mediated degradation of transcriptional activators is dependent on the energy of ATP hydrolysis. If chlorpromazine interferes with the ability of the bacterial cell to produce ATP, the Lon protease will be rendered non-functional and unable to degrade RamA, accounting for the increased expression of this activator seen in the presence of chlorpromazine (Ricci *et al.* 2014).

Non-selectivity of phenothiazines as efflux inhibitors

Data suggests that phenothiazines have multiple modes of action including effects on the bacterial membrane, cellular replication and energy generation, as well as several effects on mammalian cells. Therefore, while many of these compounds may be substrates of AcrAB-TolC and directly interact with this protein complex, it is unlikely that their efflux inhibitory effects are selective. Indeed, their non-specific effects may contribute to their ability to inhibit efflux.

Considering that many efflux pumps, including AcrAB-TolC, are proton/substrate antiporters driven by the PMF (Blair *et al.* 2015), efflux is inhibited upon interference with the ability of the bacterial cell to generate or maintain an energised cell membrane. Amaral *et al.* (2011) and Rodrigues *et al.* (2009) revealed that the increased accumulation of ethidium bromide caused by *N*-hydroxylalkyl-2-aminophenothiazines at pH 7.4 is significantly reduced in the presence of glucose (Rodrigues *et al.* 2008, Amaral *et al.* 2011). This suggests that the addition of a source of metabolic energy is able to reverse the inhibitory effects of phenothiazines and demonstrates the role that such energy plays in the activity of the *E. coli* AcrAB-TolC efflux pump.

As stated above, studies have suggested that chlorpromazine interferes with calcium binding to calcium-binding proteins (Molnar *et al.* 1997). Martins *et al.* (2011) noted that at pH 8.0, the chlorpromazine-induced accumulation of ethidium bromide was decreased by the addition of calcium chloride (Martins *et al.* 2011). The author speculated that chlorpromazine

interferes with the binding of calcium to calcium-dependent ATPases, thus inhibiting the hydrolysis of ATP. The consequent lack of protons then collapses the PMF, inhibiting efflux. Upon addition of calcium chloride, the excess calcium ions out-compete chlorpromazine and bind to calcium-binding proteins which reverses the efflux inhibition and allows the efflux of ethidium bromide.

However, the generation and hydrolysis of ATP by calcium-dependent ATPases is only one avenue by which ATP can be produced and hydrolysed, and does not take into consideration calcium-independent generation of ATP. For example, the F₀F₁ ATPase (and many other ATPases) is not calcium dependent and ATP will continue to be produced and hydrolysed in the absence of this ion. Therefore, it is unlikely that any net loss of ATP generation as a result of inhibition of the calcium dependent ATPases is sufficiently large enough that it cannot be ameliorated by the activity of other enzymes.

Apart from chlorpromazine, little work has been done regarding the mode of action of phenothiazines as efflux inhibitors. However, recently Wassmann *et al.* (2018) selected for *S. aureus* mutants resistant to thioridazine. These mutants contained mutations in *cls*, important for the synthesis of membrane cardiolipin. Given that thioridazine interacts with negatively charged phospholipids, the authors proposed that thioridazine may bind to cardiolipin allowing it to pass into, and accumulate within, the cytoplasmic membrane. This disturbance of the membrane in turn damages the electrochemical gradient giving rise to inhibition of a variety of energy-dependent processes. Interestingly, growth kinetic experiments revealed that while deletion of *cls* results in resistance to thioridazine, the strain shows a growth kinetic profile similar to the wild type when thioridazine was used in combination with dicloxacillin. Therefore, while cardiolipin was suggested to be important for the bactericidal activity of thioridazine it is not essential when considering the ability of thioridazine to potentiate the activity of antibiotics.

EFFECT OF PHENOTHIAZINES ON BIOFILM FORMATION

Many persistent and chronic bacterial infections are linked to the formation of biofilms (Flemming *et al.* 2016). Given that changes in the expression of genes encoding efflux and transporter proteins occurs during the establishment of a biofilm, efflux pumps have been suggested to be involved in their formation and maintenance. Up-regulation of genes encoding efflux and transporter proteins is a common feature of many biofilms. the transcriptional profiles of the *E. coli* UTI strains 83972 and VR50 showed that 128 of the 600 genes upregulated during biofilm growth encoded efflux pumps and other transporters (Kvist *et al.* 2008). In addition, transposon mutagenesis of *E. coli* revealed that the efflux genes *emrY*, *fsr* and *emrE* were essential for biofilm growth. Further studies have also shown that *E. coli* and *Salmonella* strains lacking *acrB*, *acrD*, *acrE*, *mdtE* and *emrE* grew poorly in a biofilm when compared to the wild-type strain (Han *et al.* 2010, Baugh *et al.* 2012). Alav *et al.* 2018).

It is unclear whether inhibition of efflux pumps will inhibit the formation or maintenance of a biofilm. At sub-MIC concentrations, thioridazine and chlorpromazine have been shown to inhibit the formation of biofilms in the following organisms: *Francisella novicida* (Dean and van Hoek 2015), *E.coli* MG1655 (Baugh *et al.* 2014), *E. coli* F18, *E. coli* UTI strains 83972 and VR50, *S. aureus* NCTC 8532 (Baugh *et al.* 2014), *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (Baugh *et al.* 2014), *Proteus mirabilis* (Nzakizwanayo *et al.* 2017), *S.* Typhimurium (Baugh *et al.* 2012) and *K. pneumoniae* I222-86 (Nzakizwanayo *et al.* 2017), as well as clinical isolates of *Proteus mirabilis*, *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* (Nzakizwanayo *et al.* 2017). *P. mirabilis* possesses the Bcr/CflA efflux system that is essential for the development of biofilms by this species. Thioridazine at half-MIC reduced the rate of biofilm formation by *P. mirabilis* on catheters, In silico modelling predicted an interaction between thioridazine and

the hydrophobic binding pocket of the Bcr/CflA efflux system (Nzakizwanayo et al. 2017). This suggests that part of the mode of action may be as a competitive inhibitor of efflux.

The establishment and maintenance of a biofilm is regulated by quorum sensing (cell-to-cell signalling). In *F. novicida* the observed biofilm inhibition by phenothiazines was dependent on the virulence factor QseC, a quorum sensing histidine kinase that forms part of the QseBC two-component system (Dean and van Hoek 2015). QseBC is also found in *E. coli* and shares homology with PmrAB of *S.* Typhimurium suggesting that phenothiazines may inhibit quorum sensing. In turn, this will have downstream impacts on virulence factor production, motility and biofilm formation. Some bacterial species containing deletions in efflux pump genes are unable to secrete quorum sensing signals and thus form a biofilm. Similarly, compounds that are known to inhibit efflux via disturbance of the PMF (CCCP) have also been shown to inhibit quorum sensing in *E. coli* by preventing extrusion of toxic quorum sensing signals (Varga *et al.* 2012). Given this, the inhibition of biofilms by phenothiazines may indirectly result from inhibition of efflux pump activity by disturbances to the PMF.

In enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*, QseBC acts as a virulence factor responsible for activating transcription of motility genes (Clarke *et al.* 2006). This implies that phenothiazines decrease biofilm formation by inducing a response that increases motility, allowing the bacterium to move away from the toxic inhibitor. The ability of phenothiazines at sub-inhibitory concentrations to inhibit motility and swarming has also been shown in *P. vulgaris* (Molnar *et al.* 1992). Considering the flagellum is energised by transmembrane ion gradients, it was postulated that the ability of phenothiazines to inhibit motility results from inhibition of the bacterial proton gradient. Type IV pilli are another key virulence factor that contribute to both motility and the ability of the bacterium undergo homologous recombination (Craig *et al.* 2004). Recently, Denis *et al.* (2019) reported that trifluoperazine

(at sub-inhibitory concentrations) is able to affect the functionality of Type IV pilli as seen by a reduction in pilli-dependent twitching motility and subsequent dispersal of aggregates produced by Neisseria meningitides and Neisseria gonorrhoeae. This was not observed in a retraction-defective $\Delta pilT$ mutant or a mutant overexpressing the outer membrane protein PilC. Of note, all piperazine and piperidine classes of phenothiazines, but not the aliphatic class (with the exception of promazine), induced aggregate dispersal of meningococcal aggregates. N. meningitidis mutants resistant to trifluoperazine and thioridazine were found to contain mutations in the Na⁺ pumping NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase complex (Na⁺-NQR). This respiratory chain enzyme is essential in the maintenance of an inner membrane Na⁺ gradient. The accompanying mutations in *lgtE* or *galE* may compensate for the resulting osmotic stress by altering lipopolysaccharide structure. This, in combination with the observation that the addition of NaCl inhibits the aggregate dispersal activity of the phenothiazines, suggests these compounds are able to affect bacterial motility via alterations to the inner membrane Na⁺ gradients . Given that the Na⁺ gradient allows electrons to enter the electron transport chain disruption of Na+-NQR may have downstream impacts on the ability of the cell to generate the energy required for other crucial biosynthetic pathways.

CAN PHENOTHIAZINES BE USED CLINICALLY AS ANTIBIOTIC ADJUVANTS?

577578

579

580

581

582

583

584

561

562

563

564

565

566

567

568

569

570

571

572

573

574

575

576

Several questions arise from the use of phenothiazines in psychiatry that could be useful for determining their clinical impact as antibiotic adjuvants. For instance, are patients who receive phenothiazines less likely to have a bacterial infection or does phenothiazine administration improve the clinical outcome of patients with bacterial infections treated with antibiotics? In addition, given that the usefulness of efflux inhibitors will be limited if bacteria develop resistance to the adjuvant, does bacterial resistance to phenothiazines occur

in commensal organisms in patients administered this drug for its neuroleptic properties? Unfortunately, there are currently no published studies addressing these questions.

Another question often raised about the use of these drug combinations is whether the drugdrug interactions of antibiotics and phenothiazines limit their use in combination? Phenothiazines and many antibiotics share a similar organ distribution and very few antibiotics interact negatively with phenothiazines. However, there are no published studies showing that phenothiazines synergise with antibiotics in vivo. Drug interactions are highly complex and mechanistically models will relevant need to be built to determine whether phenothiazines synergise or enhance the activity of antibiotics in a clinically useful manner. In addition, the concentrations at which phenothiazines can be administered therapeutically without cytotoxicity is ~1,000 fold lower than the concentration at which antibiotic-adjuvant activity is observed. Therefore, the current clinical usefulness of these compounds may be limited. However, understanding the mode of action of phenothiazines as efflux-adjuvants may allow for the design of phenothiazine derivatives or novel compounds as efflux inhibitors without the accompanying cytotoxicity.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

601 602

603

604

605

606

607

608

609

585

586

587

588

589

590

591

592

593

594

595

596

597

598

599

600

Phenothiazines have been very useful clinical agents within the field of psychiatry and many of their additional biological properties, although largely overlooked, have been known for many years. Over the last decade, researchers have begun to study the diverse activities of the phenothiazines for use as antibiotic adjuvants. Phenothiazines have been shown to interfere with cellular replication, affect cellular energy generation, possess plasmid curing properties and inhibit biofilm formation. Of particular interest is the evidence to suggest that phenothiazines are efflux inhibitors, capable of potentiating the antimicrobial activity of

existing antibiotic and increase the intracellular concentration of antibiotics. Considering that the pharmacokinetics and toxicology of phenothiazines are well-described, these compounds could be useful as antibiotic-adjuvants. Unfortunately, the cytotoxicity of these compounds will limit their clinical use. The rational design of more active and less cytotoxic efflux inhibitors, either novel compounds or phenothiazine derivatives will be achieved through understanding of the mechanisms of phenothiazine activity against bacteria. Irrespective of their clinical use, the use of phenothiazines in academic research has greatly enhanced the understanding of many biological systems including plasmid conjugation, biofilm formation and efflux pumps.

619

620

623

610

611

612

613

614

615

616

617

618

FUNDING

- This work was supported by the Medical Research Council Industrial CASE PhD Studentship
- 622 [MR/N017846/1].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

- We thank Professor John Marriott for providing us with information regarding the
- pharmacology of the phenothiazine compounds. We also thank Dr Vito Ricci and Dr Robert
- Marshall for critically reading this manuscript and providing feedback. We also thank the
- Medical Research Council for funding this work. There are no conflicts of interest to declare.

628

629 **REFERENCES**

- 630 Alay I, Sutton JM and Rahman KM. Role of bacterial efflux pumps in biofilm formation. J
- 631 *Antimicrob Chemother* 2018; **73**: 2003-2020.
- 632 Amaral L and Lorian V. Effects of chlorpromazine on the cell envelope proteins of
- 633 Escherichia coli. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1991; **35**: 1923-1924.
- 634 Amaral L, Kristiansen JE, Frolund Thomsen V and Markovich B. The effects of
- chlorpromazine on the outer cell wall of Salmonella Typhimurium in ensuring resistance to
- 636 the drug. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2000; **14**: 225-229.
- 637 Amaral L, Cerca P, Spengler G, Machado L, Martins A, Couto I, Viveiros M, Fanning S and
- Pages JM. Ethidium bromide efflux by Salmonella: modulation by metabolic energy, pH,
- 639 ions and phenothiazines. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2011; **38**: 140-145.
- 640 Archer JS and Hicks RG. Classifications of phenothiazine derivatives. Br J Anaesth 1963;
- 641 **35**: 446.
- Ardal C, Baraldi E, Ciabuschi F, Outterson K, Rex JH, Piddock LJV and Findlay D. To the
- 643 G20: incentivising antibacterial research and development. Lancet Infect Dis 2017; 17: 799-
- 644 801.
- Bailey AM, Paulsen IT and Piddock LJ. RamA confers multidrug resistance in Salmonella
- 646 enterica via increased expression of acrB, which is inhibited by chlorpromazine. Antimicrob
- 647 Agents Chemother 2008; **52**: 3604-3611.
- Barabas K and Molnar J. Lack of correlation between intercalation and plasmid curing
- ability of some tricyclic compounds. Acta Microbiol Acad Sci Hung 1980; 27: 55-61.
- Baugh S, Ekanayaka AS, Piddock LJ and Webber MA. Loss of or inhibition of all multidrug
- 651 resistance efflux pumps of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium results in impaired
- ability to form a biofilm. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2012; **67**: 2409-2417.

- Baugh S, Phillips CR, Ekanayaka AS, Piddock LJ and Webber MA. Inhibition of multidrug
- efflux as a strategy to prevent biofilm formation. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2014; **69**: 673-681.
- Ben-Hur E, Prager A, Green M and Rosenthal I. pH dependence of the phototoxic and
- photomutagenic effects of chlorpromazine. *Chem Biol Interact* 1980; **29**: 223-233.
- Bernthsen A and Laboratorium von A. Bernthsen H. Zur Kenntniss des Methylenblau und
- verwandter Farbstoffe. Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft 1883; 16: 2896-2904.
- Bhattacharyya D and Sen PC. The effect of binding of chlorpromazine and chloroquine to
- ion transporting ATPases. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1999; **198**: 179-185.
- Blair JM and Piddock LJ. How to Measure Export via Bacterial Multidrug Resistance Efflux
- 662 Pumps. *mBio* 2016; **7**: e00840-00816.
- Blair JM, Webber MA, Baylay AJ, Ogbolu DO and Piddock LJ. Molecular mechanisms of
- antibiotic resistance. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2015; **13**: 42-51.
- BNF JFC British National Formulary (Online). p.^pp. BMJ Group and Pharmaceutical Press,
- 666 London.
- Brannan MD, Riggs JJ, Hageman WE and Pruss TP. A comparison of the cardiovascular
- effects of haloperidol, thioridazine and chlorpromazine HCl. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther
- 669 1980; **244**: 48-57.
- 670 Buckley AM, Webber MA, Cooles S, Randall LP, La Ragione RM, Woodward MJ and
- 671 Piddock LJ. The AcrAB-TolC efflux system of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium
- plays a role in pathogenesis. *Cell Microbiol* 2006; **8**: 847-856.
- Buckner MMC, Ciusa ML and Piddock LJV. Strategies to combat antimicrobial resistance:
- anti-plasmid and plasmid curing. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 2018; **42**: 781-804.
- Bullough DA, Kwan M, Laikind PK, Yoshida M and Allison WS. The varied responses of
- different F1-ATPases to chlorpromazine. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1985; **236**: 567-575.

- 677 Choudhury D, Talukdar AD, Chetia P, Bhattacharjee A and Choudhury MD. Screening of
- Natural Products and Derivatives for the Identification of RND Efflux Pump Inhibitors.
- 679 *Comb Chem High Throughput Screen* 2016; **19**: 705-713.
- 680 Clarke MB, Hughes DT, Zhu C, Boedeker EC and Sperandio V. The QseC sensor kinase: A
- bacterial adrenergic receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006; **103**: 10420-10425.
- 682 Coldham NG, Webber M, Woodward MJ and Piddock LJV. A 96-well plate fluorescence
- assay for assessment of cellular permeability and active efflux in Salmonella enterica serovar
- Typhimurium and Escherichia coli. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2010; 65: 1655-
- 685 1663.
- 686 Craig L, Pique ME and Tainer JA. Type IV pilus structure and bacterial pathogenicity. *Nat*
- 687 Rev Microbiol 2004; 2: 363-378.
- 688 Creese I, Burt D and Snyder S. Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and
- pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. *Science* 1976; **192**: 481-483.
- 690 Dabbeni-Sala F and Palatini P. Mechanism of local anesthetic effect. Involvement of F0 in
- the inhibition of mitochondrial ATP synthase by phenothiazines. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1990;
- **1015**: 248-252.
- Dastidar SG, Chaudhury A, Annadurai S, Roy S, Mookerjee M and Chakrabarty AN. In vitro
- and *In vivo* antimicrobial action of fluphenazine. *J Chemother* 1995; 7: 201-206.
- de Faria PA, Bettanin F, Cunha RL, Paredes-Gamero EJ, Homem-de-Mello P, Nantes IL and
- 696 Rodrigues T. Cytotoxicity of phenothiazine derivatives associated with mitochondrial
- dysfunction: a structure-activity investigation. *Toxicology* 2015; **330**: 44-54.
- de Kraker MEA, Stewardson AJ and Harbarth S. Will 10 Million People Die a Year due to
- Antimicrobial Resistance by 2050? *PLoS Med* 2016; **13**.

- de Mol NJ and Busker RW. Irreversible binding of the chlorpromazine radical cation and of
- 701 photoactivated chlorpromazine to biological macromolecules. *Chem Biol Interact* 1984; **52**:
- 702 79-92.
- 703 de Mol NJ, Posthuma RM and Mohn GR. Induction of repairable DNA damage in
- 704 Escherichia coli and interaction with DNA in vitro by the radical cation of chlorpromazine.
- 705 *Chem Biol Interact* 1983; **47**: 223-237.
- Dean SN and van Hoek ML. Screen of FDA-approved drug library identifies maprotiline, an
- antibiofilm and antivirulence compound with QseC sensor-kinase dependent activity in
- 708 Francisella novicida. Virulence 2015; **6**: 487-503.
- 709 Deeds F, Stockton AB and Thomas JO. Studies on phenothiazine VIII. Antiseptic value of
- 710 phenothiazine in urinary tract infections. *The Journal of Pharmacological and Experimental*
- 711 *Therapeutics* 1939; **65**: 353-371.
- 712 Denis K, Le Bris M, Le Guennec L, et al. Targeting Type IV pili as an antivirulence strategy
- against invasive meningococcal disease. *Nat Microbiol* 2019; **4**: 972-984.
- 714 Doroshenko PA, Kostyuk PG and Luk'yanetz EA. Modulation of calcium current by
- 715 calmodulin antagonists. *Neuroscience* 1988; **27**: 1073-1080.
- Du D, Wang-Kan X, Neuberger A, Veen HWv, Pos KM, Piddock LJV and Luisi BF.
- 717 Multidrug efflux pumps: structure, function and regulation. Nature Reviews Microbiology
- 718 2018; **16**: 523.
- 719 Eilam Y. Membrane effects of phenothiazines in yeasts. I. Stimulation of calcium and
- 720 potassium fluxes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1983; **733**: 242-248.
- 721 Eilam Y. Effects of phenothiazines on inhibition of plasma membrane ATPase and
- hyperpolarization of cell membranes in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochim Biophys
- 723 *Acta* 1984; **769**: 601-610.

- Eisenberg S, Giehl K, Henis YI and Ehrlich M. Differential Interference of Chlorpromazine
- with the Membrane Interactions of Oncogenic K-Ras and Its Effects on Cell Growth. *Journal*
- 726 of Biological Chemistry 2008; **283**: 27279-27288.
- 727 Ejim L, Farha MA, Falconer SB, Wildenhain J, Coombes BK, Tyers M, Brown ED and
- 728 Wright GD. Combinations of antibiotics and nonantibiotic drugs enhance antimicrobial
- 729 efficacy. *Nat Chem Biol* 2011; **7**: 348-350.
- 730 Elkes J and Elkes C. Effect of chlorpromazine on the behavior of chronically overactive
- 731 psychotic patients. *Br Med J* 1954; **2**: 560-565.
- Farde L, Nordström A-L, Wiesel F-A, Pauli S, Halldin C and Sedvall G. Positron Emission
- 733 Tomographic Analysis of Central D1 and D2 Dopamine Receptor Occupancy in Patients
- 734 Treated With Classical Neuroleptics and Clozapine: Relation to Extrapyramidal Side Effects.
- 735 *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1992; **49**: 538-544.
- Farha MA, Verschoor CP, Bowdish D and Brown ED. Collapsing the Proton Motive Force
- 737 to Identify Synergistic Combinations against Staphylococcus aureus. Chemistry & Biology
- 738 2013; **20**: 1168-1178.
- 739 Flemming H-C, Wingender J, Szewzyk U, Steinberg P, Rice SA and Kjelleberg S. Biofilms:
- an emergent form of bacterial life. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2016; **14**: 563-575.
- 741 Ford JM, Prozialeck WC and Hait WN. Structural features determining activity of
- 742 phenothiazines and related drugs for inhibition of cell growth and reversal of multidrug
- resistance. *Molecular Phamacology* 1989; **35**: 105-115.
- 744 Galeazzi L, Turchetti G, Grilli G, Groppa G and Giunta S. Chlorpromazine as permeabilizer
- and reagent for detection of microbial peroxidase and peroxidaselike activities. *Appl Environ*
- 746 *Microbiol* 1986; **52**: 1433-1435.
- 747 Gordon HM and Sydney NSW. Phenothiazine as an anthelmintic. Australian Veterinary
- 748 *Journal* 1945; **21**: 90-95.

- 749 Gurevich EV, Gainetdinov RR and Gurevich VV. G protein-coupled receptor kinases as
- regulators of dopamine receptor functions. *Pharmacol Res* 2016; **111**: 1-16.
- 751 Han X, Dorsey-Oresto A, Malik M, Wang JY, Drlica K, Zhao X and Lu T. Escherichia coli
- genes that reduce the lethal effects of stress. *BMC Microbiol* 2010; **10**: 35.
- 753 Hunt KA, Flynn JM, Naranjo B, Shikhare ID and Gralnick JA. Substrate-Level
- 754 Phosphorylation Is the Primary Source of Energy Conservation during Anaerobic Respiration
- of Shewanella oneidensis Strain MR-1. J Bacteriol 2010; 192: 3345-3351.
- 756 Jaszczyszyn A, Gasiorowski K, Swiatek P, Malinka W, Cieslik-Boczula K, Petrus J and
- 757 Czarnik-Matusewicz B. Chemical structure of phenothiazines and their biological activity.
- 758 *Pharmacol Rep* 2012; **64**: 16-23.
- 759 Jiang Y-W, Gao G, Chen Z and Wu F-G. Fluorescence studies on the interaction between
- 760 chlorpromazine and model cell membranes. *New Journal of Chemistry* 2017; **41**: 4048-4057.
- 761 Kaatz GW, Moudgal VV, Seo SM and Kristiansen JE. Phenothiazines and Thioxanthenes
- 762 Inhibit Multidrug Efflux Pump Activity in Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrob Agents
- 763 *Chemother* 2003; **47**: 719-726.
- Kerantzas CA and William R. Jacobs J. Origins of Combination Therapy for Tuberculosis:
- Lessons for Future Antimicrobial Development and Application. mBio 2017; 8: e01586-
- 766 01516.
- Komatsu N, Motohashi N, Fujimaki M and Molnar J. Induction of a protective immunity in
- mice against Escherichia coli by phenothiazines, 10-[n-(phthalimido)alkyl]-2-substituted-
- 769 10H-phenothiazines and 1-(2-chloroethyl)-3-(2-substituted-10H-phenothiazines-10-yl)alkyl-1
- -ureas. *In Vivo* 1997; **11**: 13-16.
- 771 Kristiansen JE. Experiments to illustrate the effect of chlorpromazine on the permeability of
- the bacterial cell wall. *Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand B* 1979; **87**: 317-319.

- 773 Kristiansen JE and Blom J. Effect of chlorpromazine on the ultrastructure of *Staphylococcus*
- aureus. Acta Pathologica et Microbiologica Scandinavica Section B, Microbiology 1981; 89:
- 775 399-405.
- 776 Kristiansen JE, Mortensen I and Nissen B. Membrane stabilizers inhibit potassium efflux
- from Staphylococcus aureus strain No. U2275. Biochim Biophys Acta 1982; 685: 379-382.
- 778 Kristiansen JE, Hendricks O, Delvin T, Butterworth TS, Aagaard L, Christensen JB, Flores
- 779 VC and Keyzer H. Reversal of resistance in microorganisms by help of non-antibiotics. J
- 780 *Antimicrob Chemother* 2007; **59**: 1271-1279.
- 781 Krulwich TA, Sachs G and Padan E. Molecular aspects of bacterial pH sensing and
- 782 homeostasis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2011; **9**: 330-343.
- 783 Kunz E. Henri Laborit and the inhibition of action. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2014; 16: 113-
- 784 117.
- 785 Kvist M, Hancock V and Klemm P. Inactivation of Efflux Pumps Abolishes Bacterial
- 786 Biofilm Formation. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2008; **74**: 7376-7382.
- Labedan B. Increase in permeability of *Escherichia coli* outer membrane by local anesthetics
- and penetration of antibiotics. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1988; **32**: 153-155.
- 789 Lawler AJ, Ricci V, Busby SJW and Piddock LJV. Genetic inactivation of acrAB or
- 790 inhibition of efflux induces expression of ramA. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy
- 791 2013; **68**: 1551-1557.
- 792 Li XZ and Nikaido H. Efflux-Mediated Drug Resistance in Bacteria: an Update. *Drugs* 2009;
- **69**: 1555-1623.
- Lodish H, Berk A, Zipursky SL, Matsudaira P, Baltimore D and Darnell J (2000) Electron
- 795 Transport and Oxidative Phosphorylation. *Molecular Cell Biology*, Vol. 4th p.^pp. W. H.
- 796 Freeman, New York.

- 797 Lomovskaya O, Warren MS, Lee A, et al. Identification and characterization of inhibitors of
- multidrug resistance efflux pumps in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: novel agents for combination
- 799 therapy. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2001; **45**: 105-116.
- 800 Maenza J and Flexner C. Combination antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection. Am Fam
- 801 *Physician* 1998; **57**: 2789-2798.
- Mahamoud A, Chevalier J, Alibert-Franco S, Kern WV and Pages JM. Antibiotic efflux
- pumps in Gram-negative bacteria: the inhibitor response strategy. J Antimicrob Chemother
- 804 2007; **59**: 1223-1229.
- Maier L, Pruteanu M, Kuhn M, et al. Extensive impact of non-antibiotic drugs on human gut
- 806 bacteria. *Nature* 2018; **555**: 623-628.
- 807 Mandi TY, molnar J, Holland IB and Beladi I. Efficient curing of an Escherichia coli F-
- prime plasmid by phenothiazines. *Genet Res* 1975; **26**: 109-111.
- 809 Manion RE, Bradley SG and Hall WH. Retardation of the emergence of isoniazid-resistant
- 810 *mycobacteria* by phenothiazines and quinacrine. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1969; **130**: 206-209.
- 811 Manson MD, Tedesco P, Berg HC, Harold FM and Van der Drift C. A protonmotive force
- drives bacterial flagella. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1977; **74**: 3060-3064.
- 813 Marshak DR, Lukas TJ and Watterson DM. Drug-protein interactions: binding of
- chlorpromazine to calmodulin, calmodulin fragments, and related calcium binding proteins.
- 815 *Biochemistry* 2002; **24**: 144-150.
- Martins A, Machado L, Costa S, Cerca P, Spengler G, Viveiros M and Amaral L. Role of
- calcium in the efflux system of *Escherichia coli*. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2011; **37**: 410-414.
- 818 Maruoka N, Murata T, Omata N, Takashima Y, Tanii H, Yonekura Y, Fujibayashi Y and
- Wada Y. Effects of chlorpromazine on plasma membrane permeability and fluidity in the rat
- 820 brain: a dynamic positron autoradiography and fluorescence polarization study. Prog
- *Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 2007; **31**: 178-186.

- Mayer M and James TL. NMR-based characterization of phenothiazines as a RNA binding
- 823 scaffold. *J Am Chem Soc* 2004; **126**: 4453-4460.
- 824 Mazumder R, Gangully K, Dastidar SG and Chakrabarty AN. Trifluoperazine: a broad
- spectrum bactericide especially active on stapylococci and vibrios. Int J Antimicrob Agents
- 826 2001; **18**: 403-406.
- 827 Melander RJ and Melander C. The Challenge of Overcoming Antibiotic Resistance: An
- Adjuvant Approach? ACS Infectious Diseases 2017; **3**: 559-563.
- Micek ST, Welch EC, Khan J, Pervez M, Doherty JA, Reichley RM and Kollef MH. Empiric
- 830 Combination Antibiotic Therapy Is Associated with Improved Outcome against Sepsis Due
- to Gram-Negative Bacteria: a Retrospective Analysis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2010;
- **54**: 1742-1748.
- 833 Mokhtari RB, Homayouni TS, Baluch N, Morgatskaya E, Kumar S, Das B and Yeger H.
- Combination therapy in combating cancer. *Oncotarget* 2017; **8**: 38022-38043.
- 835 Molnar J and Schneider B. Plasmid curing and antibacterial effects of some chlorpromazine
- derivatives in relation to their molecule orbitals. Acta Microbiol Acad Sci Hung 1978; 25:
- 837 291-298.
- 838 Molnar J and Nakamura MJ. Virulence associated plasmid and R-plasmid curing in Yersinia
- enterocolitica by some tricyclic compounds. Acta Microbiol Hung 1988; **35**: 307-312.
- Molnar J, Galfi M, Lozsa A and Nakamura MJ. Inhibition of bacterial plasmid replication by
- 841 stereoselective binding by tricyclic psychopharmacons. Res Commun Chem Pathol
- 842 *Pharmacol* 1984; **43**: 235-249.
- 843 Molnar J, Ren J, Kristiansen JE and Nakamura MJ. Effects of some tricyclic
- psychopharmacons and structurally related compounds on motility of Proteus vulgaris.
- 845 *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 1992; **62**: 319-320.

- Molnar J, Schneider B, Mandi Y, Farkas S and Holland IB. New mechanism of plasmid
- curing by psychotropic drugs. *Acta Microbiol Acad Sci Hung* 1980; **27**: 309-315.
- 848 Molnar J, Foldeak S, Nakamura MJ, Rausch H, Domonkos K and Szabo M. Antiplasmid
- activity: loss of bacterial resistance to antibiotics. *APMIS Suppl* 1992; **30**: 24-31.
- Molnar J, Hever A, Fakla I, Fischer J, Ocsovski I and Aszalos A. Inhibition of the transport
- function of membrane proteins by some substituted phenothiazines in E. coli and multidrug
- resistant tumor cells. *Anticancer Res* 1997; **17**: 481-486.
- 853 Montgomery J, Winterbottom E, Jessani M, Kohegyi E, Fulmer J, Seamonds B and Josiassen
- 854 RC. Prevalence of hyperprolactinemia in schizophrenia: association with typical and atypical
- antipsychotic treatment. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 2004; **65**: 1491-1498.
- Nzakizwanayo J, Scavone P, Jamshidi S, et al. Fluoxetine and thioridazine inhibit efflux and
- attenuate crystalline biofilm formation by *Proteus mirabilis*. Sci Rep 2017; **7**: 1-14.
- 858 O' Neil J (2016) Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally. Final Report and
- 859 Recommendations. p.^pp.
- 860 Opperman TJ and Nguyen ST. Recent advances toward a molecular mechanism of efflux
- pump inhibition. *Front Microbiol* 2015; **6**: 1-16.
- Ordway D, Viveiros M, Leandro C, Arroz MJ and Amaral L. Intracellular activity of clinical
- 863 concentrations of phenothiazines including thioridiazine against phagocytosed
- 864 *Staphylococcus aureus. Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2002; **20**: 34-43.
- Ordway D, Viveiros M, Leandro C, Jorge Arroz M, Molnar J, Kristiansen JE and Amaral L.
- 866 Chlorpromazine has intracellular killing activity against phagocytosed *Staphylococcus aureus*
- at clinical concentrations. *J Infect Chemother* 2002; **8**: 227-231.
- Paulsen IT, Brown MH and Skurray RA. Proton-dependent multidrug efflux systems.
- 869 *Microbiol Rev* 1996; **60**: 575-608.

- 870 Pickholz M, Oliveira ON, Jr. and Skaf MS. Molecular dynamics simulations of neutral
- chlorpromazine in zwitterionic phospholipid monolayers. J Phys Chem B 2006; 110: 8804-
- 872 8814.
- Plenge-Tellechea F, Dominguez-Solis CA, Diaz-Sanchez AG, Melendez-Martinez D,
- Vargas-Medrano J and Sierra-Fonseca JA. Chlorpromazine and dimethyl sulfoxide modulate
- the catalytic activity of the plasma membrane Ca(2+)-ATPase from human erythrocyte. J
- 876 *Bioenerg Biomembr* 2018; **50**: 59-69.
- 877 Powers RA, Morandi F and Shoichet BK. Structure-Based Discovery of a Novel,
- Noncovalent Inhibitor of AmpC β-Lactamase. *Structure* 2002; **10**: 1013-1023.
- 879 Raczkowska A, Trzos J, Lewandowska O, Nieckarz M and Brzostek K. Expression of the
- AcrAB Components of the AcrAB-TolC Multidrug Efflux Pump of Yersinia enterocolitica Is
- Subject to Dual Regulation by OmpR. *PLoS One* 2015; **10**: e0124248.
- 882 Rajyaguru JM and Muszynski MJ. Enhancement of Burkholderia cepacia antimicrobial
- susceptibility by cationic compounds. J Antimicrob Chemother 1997; **40**: 345-351.
- Ramachandraiah CT, Subramaniam N and Tancer M. The story of antipsychotics: Past and
- present. *Indian J Psychiatry* 2009; **51**: 324-326.
- 886 Ricci V, Blair JMA and Piddock LJV. RamA, which controls expression of the MDR efflux
- pump AcrAB-TolC, is regulated by the Lon protease. J Antimicrob Chemother 2014; 69:
- 888 643-650.
- Rodrigues L, Wagner D, Viveiros M, Sampaio D, Couto I, Vavra M, Kern WV and Amaral
- 890 L. Thioridazine and chlorpromazine inhibition of ethidium bromide efflux in *Mycobacterium*
- avium and Mycobacterium smegmatis. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008; **61**: 1076-1082.
- 892 Salzberger B and Fatkenheuer G. Combination therapy for bloodstream infections with
- carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2017; **17**: 1020.

- 894 Schneider EK, Reyes-Ortega F, Velkov T and Li J. Antibiotic-non-antibiotic combinations
- for combating extremely drug-resistant Gram-negative 'superbugs'. Essays Biochem 2017; **61**:
- 896 115-125.
- 897 Schneiders T, Amyes SGB and Levy SB. Role of AcrR and RamA in Fluoroquinolone
- 898 Resistance in Clinical Klebsiella pneumoniae Isolates from Singapore. Antimicrob Agents
- 899 *Chemother* 2003; **47**: 2831-2837.
- 900 Seeman P and Kapur S. Schizophrenia: More dopamine, more D2 receptors. *Proc Natl Acad*
- 901 *Sci U S A* 2000; **97**: 7673-7675.
- 902 Sharma S, Kaur H and Khuller GK. Cell cycle effects of the phenothiazines: trifluoperazine
- and chlorpromazine in *Candida albicans*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2001; **199**: 185-190.
- 904 Smith LE (1937) Use of phenothiazine as an insecticide. (Agriculture USDo, ed.) p.^pp.
- 905 Bureau of Entomology and Plant Quarantine, Washington.
- 906 Strahl H and Hamoen LW. Membrane potential is important for bacterial cell division. *Proc*
- 907 *Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2010; **107**: 12281-12286.
- 908 Sun J, Deng Z and Yan A. Bacterial multidrug efflux pumps: mechanisms, physiology and
- 909 pharmacological exploitations. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2014; **453**: 254-267.
- 910 Swales WE. Tests of Phenothiazine as Anthelmintic: On a Means of Administration and the
- Indicated Uses for the Control of Parasitic Diseases of Sheep. Can J Comp Med 1939; 3: 188-
- 912 194.
- 913 Swett C, Cole JO, Shapiro S and Slone D. Extrapyramidal Side Effects in Chlorpromazine
- 914 Recipients: Emergence According to Benztropine Prophylaxis. Archives of General
- 915 *Psychiatry* 1977; **34**: 942-943.
- 916 Tacconelli E, Carrara E, Savoldi A, et al. Discovery, research, and development of new
- antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. Lancet
- 918 *Infect Dis* 2017; **17**: S1473-3099.

- 919 Tanaka KJ, Song S, Mason K and Pinkett HW. Selective substrate uptake: The role of ATP-
- 920 binding cassette (ABC) importers in pathogenesis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -
- 921 *Biomembranes* 2018; **1860**: 868-877.
- 922 Taurand G, France RPRCVSS and Taurand G. Phenothiazine and Derivatives. Ullmans
- 923 Encylopedia of Industrial Chemistry 2012; **26**: 601-615.
- 924 Thomas CM and Timson DJ. Calmodulins from Schistosoma mansoni: Biochemical analysis
- and interaction with IQ-motifs from voltage-gated calcium channels. *Cell Calcium* 2018; **74**:
- 926 1-13.
- 927 Tikhonova EB, Yamada Y and Zgurskaya HI. Sequential mechanism of assembly of
- 928 multidrug efflux pump AcrAB-TolC. *Chem Biol* 2011; **18**: 454-463.
- 929 Tillotson GS. Keeping the faith—reporting on antimicrobial resistance in an era of fake news.
- 930 *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2017; **17**: 473-474.
- 931 Trusts TPC (2017) Antibiotics Currently in Global Clinical Development. Vol. 2018 p.^pp.
- 932 Vandonselaar M, Hickie RA, Quail W and Delbaere LTJ. Trifluoperazine-induced
- conformational change in Ca2+-calmodulin. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 1994; 1:
- 934 795-801.
- Varga B, Csonka A, Molnar J, Amaral L and Spengler G. Possible Biological and Clinical
- 936 Applications of Phenothiazines. *Anticancer Res* 2017; **37**: 5983-5993.
- 937 Varga ZG, Armada A, Cerca P, Amaral L, Mior Ahmad Subki MA, Savka MA, Szegedi E,
- 938 Kawase M, Motohashi N and Molnar J. Inhibition of quorum sensing and efflux pump
- 939 system by trifluoromethyl ketone proton pump inhibitors. *In Vivo* 2012; **26**: 277-285.
- 940 Venter H, Mowla R, Ohene-Agyei T and Ma S. RND-type drug efflux pumps from Gram-
- negative bacteria: molecular mechanism and inhibition. Front Microbiol 2015; 6: 1-11.

- 942 Viola G, Latterini L, Vedaldi D, Aloisi GG, Dall'Acqua F, Gabellini N, Elisei F and
- 943 Barbafina A. Photosensitization of DNA strand breaks by three phenothiazine derivatives.
- 944 *Chem Res Toxicol* 2003; **16**: 644-651.
- 945 Wassmann CS, Lund LC, Thorsing M, Lauritzen SP, Kolmos HJ, Kallipolitis BH and
- 946 Klitgaard JK. Molecular mechanisms of thioridazine resistance in Staphylococcus aureus.
- 947 *PLoS One* 2018; **13**: e0201767.
- 948 Weinstein EA, Yano T, Li LS, Avarbock D, Avarbock A, Helm D, McColm AA, Duncan K,
- 949 Lonsdale JT and Rubin H. Inhibitors of type II NADH:menaquinone oxidoreductase
- 950 represent a class of antitubercular drugs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005; **102**: 4548-4553.
- 951 Weston N, Sharma P, Ricci V and Piddock LJV. Regulation of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump
- 952 in Enterobacteriaceae. *Res Microbiol* 2017; **S0923-2508**: 30176-30176.
- 953 Wolfart K, Spengler G, Kawase M, Motohashi N, Molnar J, Viveiros M and Amaral L.
- 954 Synergistic interaction between proton pump inhibitors and resistance modifiers: promoting
- effects of antibiotics and plasmid curing. *In Vivo* 2006; **20**: 367-372.
- 956 Worthington RJ and Melander C. Combination Approaches to Combat Multi-Drug Resistant
- 957 Bacteria. *Trends Biotechnol* 2013; **31**: 177-184.
- 958 Yamasaki S, Fujioka T, Hayashi K, Hayashi-Nishino M and Nishino K. Phenotype
- 959 microarray analysis of the drug efflux systems in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium.
- 960 J Infect Chemother 2016; **22**: 780-784.
- 961 Zilberstein D, Liveanu V and Gepstein A. Tricyclic drugs reduce proton motive force in
- *Leishmania donovani* promastigotes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1990; **39**: 935-940.